
EM-007-2017 HESP Evaluation Corrections, Questions and Answers 
 

RFP Correction: 
On page 4, of the RFP the Anticipated Contract Term was incorrectly defined as 7/1/2016 – 6/30/2019 
subject to annual review.  It should have read as follows: 
 
The anticipated term of the contract is November 9, 2016 through June 30, 2018, subject to adjustment 
based on the proposed schedule of the winning bidder.  
 

Requirements 
Question: 
Section 3.2.1 asks for "at least two levels free ridership and spillover based on alternate approaches"  
Does 'alternate' mean something other than participant self-report? 
Is the RFP asking for self-report plus one other method, or two methods neither of which is self-report? 
 
Answer: 
“Alternate” was used to indicate that the two approaches should be fundamentally different and not 
just minor variations of the same approach.  It was not intended to indicate a desire to avoid common 
approaches.  
 

Question: 
On page 3 of the RFP, in Section 1.1, the RFP states that the impact evaluation will address HESP period 
of September 1, 2013 to June 30, 2017.  Does the Trust expect a separate impact evaluation study and 
report for each program year, or a single study and report for the entire program period? If separate 
studies are required, can you please specify the program periods included in each study, e.g, 
FY2014,FY2015, FY2016? 
 
Is the Trust interested in impact evaluation results by fiscal year? If so, at what granularity/precision-
level? 
 
Answer: 
The RFP imposes no requirement to present findings by fiscal year.  As stated in the RFP: assessment of 
the program’s current form and performance of current measures is of the most interest to the Trust. 
 
Evaluation of the cost effectiveness of individual measures should be judged against the TRM calculation 
and avoided cost assumptions for the relevant year. 
 

Question: 
Does the work scope include the assessment of the non-energy impacts of HESP? 
 
Answer: 
The RFP does not require an assessment of non-energy impacts. 
 

Question: 



A sampling plan was provided in Section 3.2.1, page 10. Do you require or encourage other sampling 
criteria such as geographical distribution, single family vs. multifamily, direct install vs. financing, 
LiHESP? 

 Are evaluation results required to be reported by any of these sub-categories?  
 
Answer: 
The bidders sampling plan should be sufficient to represent the total population of program participants 
and take steps to minimize or actively address sampling bias.  If bidders anticipate statistically significant 
variance between sub-categories, the sampling plan should reflect those assumptions.  Reporting by 
sub-category may be appropriate if sub populations have significantly different results but there is no 
imposed requirement to do so. 
 

Question: 
What is the delivery date of the final evaluation report? 
 
Answer: 
 A delivery date for the final evaluation report was intentionally not defined in the RFP.  Bidders should 
propose a schedule that meets the objectives of the RFP.   
 

Question: 
Are electronic signatures acceptable on Attachment A and the Letter of Transmittal? 
 
Answer: 
The Trust considers “original” to be a “wet” signature, i.e. a signature using a pen.  One signed original 
copy is required. A scan or facsimile of a signed original document would have the same legal force as a 
paper RFP with a handwritten signature. 
 

General Background 
Question: 
Does HESP employ an implementation contractor? 
 
Answer: 
Yes. The Trust has used CLEAResult (formally CSG) as the implementation contractor for Home Energy 
Savings Program throughout the evaluation period. 
 

Question: 
What are the differences, from a program implementation perspective, between HESP1 and HESP2? 
 
Have the program design, eligible measures, incentive levels, or marketing efforts changed in any 
substantial manner over the evaluation period? If so, please identify key dates and briefly describe the 
relevant changes. 
 
Answer: 
There have been a number of significant changes made to the HESP framework from the HESP1 period 
(2010-2011) to the current iteration of HESP2 launched in September 2013 and continuing. While the 
overall objectives and kinds of improvements have largely remained the same, the structure of rebates, 



the process for claim forms, and channels used for marketing have all changed substantially as has the 
rate of participation prompting the interest in evaluating HESP2 projects entirely separately from 
projects completed under HESP1.  
 
In order to be eligible for incentives, HESP1 projects needed to submit an energy model and work scope 
proposal that would exceed 20% whole home energy savings and procure a rebate reservation prior to 
initiating work. HESP2 does not require nor provide reservations, and while modeling can be used as a 
pathway to receive an incentive, nearly all rebates are issued from a prescriptive project measure list 
each with specific installation criteria.  
  
 

Question: 
Are whole house energy assessments/audits conducted for low income customers?  
 
Answer: 
Yes.  
 

Specific Data Requests 
Question: 
Can the Trust provide a count of HESP participating homes for each of the following measures by fiscal 
year? 
o   Single unit, single-head ductless heat pumps 
o   Multiple units and multi-head ductless heat pumps and central heat pumps 
o   Air sealing measures 
o   Insulation measures 
o   Fossil fuel fired central heating systems 
 
Answer: 
Please refer to the table in the RFP on page 5.  Boiler and Furnace measures make up the Fossil fuel fired 
central heating systems.  In the first 2 years of program activity, single head ductless heat pumps 
constituted 95% of installed systems, but the share of multi-split systems has increased to roughly 25% 
of the market in the past year. Files and data on installations including outdoor unit model numbers will 
be provided to the winning bidder. Note that the program ran for 9 months in FY14. To get yearly totals, 
the FY14 monthly averages should be multiplied by 9 instead of 12. 
 

Question:  
Can the Trust provide a count of HESP participating homes that installed single unit, single-head ductless 
heat pumps for each of the following home types? 
o   Mobile homes 
o   Multi-family buildings 
o   Single-family homes with less than 2000 square feet 
o   Single-family homes with more than 2000 square feet 
 
Answer: 
Prior to FY17, the program only incentivized the first ductless heat pump installed regardless of the 
number of heads.  The tracking database did not distinguish between single and multi-head units.  For 



all projects, invoices are submitted along with the rebate form and are available for survey and would 
identify the number of units installed. The program has tracked number of units in buildings, but has not 
asked for contractors or homeowners to provide home square footage. 
 

Question: 
There are several citations of numbers of participants for HESP over the program years FY2014, 2015, 
2016 in the annual reports. The RFP provided the number of program measure for these years. Can you 
please provide the total number of projects broken out by electric, gas and other fuels for FY2014, 2015, 
2016?  
 
Answer: 
The FY2015 Annual Report includes the number of projects for electric, gas and other fuels.  This 
breakout was not performed in FY2014.  The FY2016 Annual Report is under construction.  Preliminary 
numbers are provided below. 
 
 

Home Energy Savings Program  

  
Electric Natural Gas Other Fuels Low Income 

Total Participants 4,772 198 2,950 30 

Total Projects 4,879 214 3,190 30 

 
 
 

Question: 
How many participants reside in offshore locations? 
 
Answer: 
Total participation by island homes in HESP2 over the past 3 years has been high by percentage verses 
population density but remains less than 300 total out of more than 23,000 statewide. 
 

Data Availability 
Questions: 
Are addresses and contact information available for participants? 
 
Does the program tracking database include contact information (name, phone, address) for 
participating customers? 
 
Does the program tracking database identify the contractors who installed measures? If so, will the 
Trust provide contact information (name, phone, address) for these contractors? 
 
Answer: 
Yes. Contact information will be provided to the winning bidder under contract. 
 

Questions: 



Can EMT comment on the expected availability of electric and natural gas utility billing history for HES 
program participants? Would the selected contractor be able to request monthly billing records for a 
period of time before and after program improvements to facilitate a billing analysis approach for 
certain measure categories? 
 
Are there any restrictions on obtaining natural gas and electric billing data for participants? 
Nonparticipants? 
 
What is the procedure for collecting customer billing/consumption data from CMP? 
• Are individual customer releases required?  
• If releases are required, what is the procedure/requirements for CMP customers? 
 
What is the procedure for collecting customer billing/consumption data from Unitil? 
•  Are individual customer releases required? if yes,  
•   If releases are required, what is the procedure/requirements for Unitil? 
 
Are electric AMI data available for this evaluation?  
 
Will the Trust provide at least 12 months of pre-participation and at least 12 months of post-
participation electricity usage data for each participating home? If not, have the customers provided 
utility account numbers and signed release forms providing the Trust with access to the data? 
 
Will the Trust provide at least 12 months of pre-participation and at least 12 months of post-
participation natural gas usage data for each participating home for which natural gas is the main 
heating fuel? If not, have these customers provided utility account numbers and signed release forms 
providing the Trust with access to the data? 
 
Will the Trust provide fuel oil delivery records covering at least 12 months of pre-participation and 12 
months of post-participation for each participating home for which fuel oil is the main heating fuel? If 
not, have these customers provided their oil dealer names and signed release forms providing the Trust 
with access to the data? 
 
Similarly, will the Trust provide propane delivery records covering at least 12 months of pre-
participation and 12 months of post-participation for each participating home for which propane is the 
main heating fuel? If not, have these customers provided their propane dealer names and signed release 
forms providing the Trust with access to the data? 
 
Answer: 
Efficiency Maine has the statutory authority to request customer specific billing data from the electric 
and natural gas utilities and has done so in the past. The process to request billing data from the utilities 
takes time (i.e., is not instantaneous). The quality and extent of billing data available varies by utility. 
Account numbers are available for program participants.   
AMI/electric interval data is available (hourly) and could be requested from the utilities and is subject to 
the same notes above. Proposals recommending the use of AMI data should note any software licensing 
fees associated with its analysis. 
Efficiency Maine assumes the utilities do not have detailed information on heating fuel or housing type.  
Liquid and solid fuel consumption records are not readily available. Ninety percent of Maine homes are 
heated with fuels other than natural gas and a large percentage use multiple fuel types. 



 

Question: 
Are interval electric meter data available for participating homes? If so, about when does the interval 
meter first become widely available? 
 
Answer: 
The Trust does not have definitive data but understands that most of Emera and CMP accounts had 
smart meters installed by 2012. 

Question: 
What are the available data fields in the “effRT” tracking database? 
 
Answer: 
See “effRT fields.xlsx” for standard data fields and measure specific properties stored in the database for 
each record.  In addition to the data stored for each record, measure specific factors are stored by 
effective date to be applied to stored savings data to calculate lifetime savings, adjusted savings and net 
savings for reporting purposes.  These factors are measure life, in-service rate, realization rate for 
energy, realization rate for demand, free ridership rate (FR) and spillover rate (SO).   To calculate lifetime 
benefits, additional factors are applied to electricity energy savings to allocate savings to the four energy 
period factors of winter peak, winter off peak, summer peak and summer off peak.  FR is also applied to 
participant costs (measure cost – incentive) when calculating net TRC. 
 

Question: 
Does the program tracking database specify the installation date in addition to the rebate application 
date for each measure installed at each participating home?  
 
Answer: 
The tracking database includes the enrollment date, invoice date and check date.  The enrollment date 
represents the date the claim form was received and entered into our HESP rebate processing database, 
the invoice date is the date on the paid invoice provided by the contractor, and the check date is the 
date the rebate check was issued. 
 

Question: 
Does the program tracking database record the type and make of the measure being replaced, when 
applicable? 
 
Can the Trust provide data regarding the existing HVAC equipment and building envelope conditions for 
HESP customers prior to participation? 
 
Answer: 
Excluding insulation and air sealing the measures installed under HESP are not considered retrofit.  
Because the existing equipment does not represent the baseline no information is collected. 
The Residential Baseline Study performed in 2015 collected information on HVAC equipment in 
residential buildings independent of program participation. 
http://www.efficiencymaine.com/docs/2015-Maine-Residential-Baseline-Study-Report-NMR.pdf  
 

Question: 

http://www.efficiencymaine.com/docs/2015-Maine-Residential-Baseline-Study-Report-NMR.pdf


Does the program tracking database contain projected annual energy savings by fuel type for each 
participating home? 
 
Can the Trust provide a count of HESP participating homes by primary heating fuel (fuel oil, natural gas, 
propane, electricity, wood) and fiscal year? 
 
Answer: 
Prior to FY17, fuel type was not collected.  Savings were prorated against all fuel types based on census 
data. Starting in FY17, fuel type is being collected and fuel specific savings allocated to each project. 
 

Question: 
Does the program tracking database contain projected electricity peak demand savings for each 
participating home? 
 
Answer: 
Yes 
 

Question: 
Does the program tracking database specify the customer cost as well as the rebate amount for each 
measure installed at each participating home? 
 
Answer: 
It depends on the measure.  Most measures have a deemed measure cost as defined in the TRM.  Some 
measure collect project specific costs.  For all projects, invoices are submitted along with the rebate 
form and are available for survey. 
 

Question: 
Does the program tracking database identify the types of supplemental heating systems present in each 
participating home? 
 
Answer: 
No 
 


